IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM MCCORMICK COUNTY

Donald Hocker Circuit Court Judge, Eleventh Circuit

Case No. 2017-000203

R. Jay Lagroon, Appellant,

v.

SBA Communications Corp., Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Robert J. Lagroon
Pro Se Appellant
791 SC Hwy 7
McCormick SC 29835

RECEIVED
AUG 11 2017
SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- 1. Whether the Circuit Court erred in reaching its instant decision that the cashier's check issued by First Citizens Bank to Kelli Barnett which was cashed on March 7, 2014 was the funds of the Respondent SBA.**
- 2. Whether the Circuit Court erred in reaching its decision that the Motion to Reconsider and the pending appeal did not deprive the Magistrate Court of subject matter jurisdiction.**
- 3. Whether the Circuit Court erred in reaching its instant decision in denying the Appellant motion for continuance based on the heavily medicated state of the Appellant because of the sexual abuse of his minor child.**
- 4. Whether the Circuit Court erred in reaching its instant decision in so much that the Magistrates Court record does not contain documents presented at trial which is contrary to the Magistrates return.**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 24, 2014, Appellant Robert Jay Lagroon, filed an application for eviction against Respondent SBA Communications Corp, alleging the Respondent failed to pay rent for use of a cell-phone tower located on Appellant's property. The missed rent payments were due pursuant to a ground lease agreement between Appellant, as lessor, and Respondent, as lessee. On December 18, 2014, following a bench trial before Judge Ryan Johnson, Magistrate, the Court issued a written Order December 22, 2014. Appellant timely filed a notice of appeal, and, thereafter, filed a petition for writ of mandamus. Respondent filed its motion to dismiss the appeal on May 4, 2015.

By Order the Court filed August 18, 2016, the Respondents motion to dismiss was Denied and Appellant's petition for writ of mandamus was granted. In lieu of a hearing, the Court directed the parties to submit the matter on briefs only. An Order Affirming Decision on Appeal was filed December 7, 2016. It is this Order from which this Appeal is taken.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

1.

The Appellant, Lagroon, appeals the denial of the eviction for failure to pay rent based on the following undisputed facts:

On February 25, 2014, SBA employee Mr. John Henry Layher was arrested for Criminal Trespassing and removed from the Appellant's property by the McCormick County Sheriff, after cutting locked gates and destroying the concrete driveway owned by the Appellant to gain access to the Appellant's property. Mr. Layher plead guilty to the charges of Criminal trespass on March 11, 2014, (R. 24 line 2).

The Respondent, SBA maintains and contends the Appellant, Dr. Lagroon barred SBA from accessing the property while the Magistrate Court actions were pending. Upon inquiry by the Court, counsel for SBA admits his client has not tried to access the property therefore could not have been hindered in any way by Dr. Lagroon. (R. 51 line 14.)

On March 24, 2014, the appellate filed a rule to vacate or show cause against SBA in McCormick County Magistrate Court case number 2014CV3510100096. The action was born from SBA's failure to pay rent for February 2014, and SBA's failure to provide written notice of termination under paragraph 10 of the lease dated October 26, 2004. (R.360 "Communications Site Lease Agreement (Ground)"). The Respondent made an unsuccessful attempt to terminate the lease and remove the cell tower without paying final rent payments or without providing written notice under section 10 of the lease. The transcript of the proceedings shows that upon inquiry by the Court:

1. Respondent's counsel admitted he could not show that the First Citizens cashier's check tendered to "Kelli Barnett" dated February 28, 2014 was indeed SBA's money.

(R.39 line 8.)

2. Respondent's counsel admits he could not show that Notice to Terminate the lease had been provided to the Appellate prior to February 2014. (R. 27 line 3.)

3. Upon request of the Appellant, Respondent's counsel refused to answer or provide evidence to conclude that the First Citizens cashier's check dated February 28, 2014, tendered to "Kelli Barnett" was indeed SBA's money by stating "I don't have to answer your questions." (R. 37 line 5.)

4. At trial the Appellant testified, and counsel for the Respondent agreed, that SBA's lease begins October 26, 2004, with a 3% increase on the anniversary term of the lease.

(R. 43 line 6). As the Court noted: "The term of the lease is October 26 ,2004. The lease amounts changed from \$1900.15 in December, 2013 and then it jumps to \$1912.00 in January 2014. And then the February 2014 cashier's check is \$1957.57. So why would...", (R. 43 line18). At that time the Court allows the Appellant to testify "So why would a company say, we're going to take down your tower but, in the meantime, we're going to throw you some extra money that's not in here." (R. 43 line 23).

The Appellant also testifies, "There is no reasonable explanation for the rent changing from the consistency of \$1900.15 to the one-time \$1912.36 in January 2014 and then changing again to \$1957.15 in March 2014. There's no plausible explanation for that." (R. 44 line 24).

Witness for the Appellant, Sheila Sonnenberg RN testified at trial that she cared for stroke victim Leona Felix who was a tenant of the Appellant and that she made the cash deposit in the amount of \$1957.15 in February 2014 on behalf of Ms. Felix by placing cash into the hands of Ms. Teresa Taylor at the First Citizens Bank branch located at 342 Baston Road in Martinez, Georgia. (R. 68 line18). The First Citizens cashier's check presented at trial was signed by Ms. Teresa Taylor and endorsed by Kelli Barnett, wife of the Appellant. (R. 139). The original envelope from the First Citizens branch located at 342 Baston Road in Martinez, Georgia, which was introduced at trial and not accepted into evidence bears the identical certified mail #7013 3020 0000 9269 4062, as Plaintiff's exhibit 2 and as the original envelop filed with the Appellant's Notice of Civil Appeal. (R. 146).

The Court states "All items sought to be admitted into evidence by the plaintiff were accepted into evidence with exception of an empty envelope" (R. 317 2nd paragraph, SECOND RETURN TO APPEAL). A search of the official Court transcript reveals absence of the following from the record, but these documents were filed with Appellant's Notice of Appeal on January 28, 2015:

1. The commercial lease of Ms. Leona Felix which clearly documents her lease is \$1957.15 for the year of 2014. (R.273)
2. The letter to Ms. Felix dated January 18, 2014 stating the amount of her lease for 2014, is \$1957.15 (R.285)
3. The Original cashier's check stub 5019895 from First Citizens Bank dated February 28, 2014, in the amount of \$1957.15 from Branch 817 (342 Baston Rd. Martinez Ga 30907). The check stub also bears the initials (TAT04), of the First Citizens representative who authorized and signed the cashier's check,

(Teresa A. Taylor) (R. 146).

4. The photograph of the lock cut off the cell tower gate which led to the involvement of law enforcement by the Respondent SBA. (R. 103 line 22 – R.104 line 19).
5. The photograph of the person holding the weapon in his hand in which the Appellant was assaulted. (R. 105 line 3-17)

These items coupled with testimony of Shelia Sonnenberg, along with the original envelope from First Citizens Bank postmarked March 4, 2014, from 342 Baston Rd. Martinez, Ga 30907 which contained the cashier check, signed by Ms. Teresa Taylor, and the admission by Respondent's counsel he cannot show that the First Citizens cashier's check tendered to "Kelli Barnett" dated February 28, 2014 was indeed SBA's money. (R. 39 line 8.), clearly establish the evidence required to meet the burden of proof that funds deposited which led to the generation of the cashier's check in the amount of \$1957.15 are indeed the funds of Ms. Felix deposited by Sheila Sonnenberg.

It is unimaginable that SBA representatives traveled from Boca Raton Florida to Martinez Georgia, to deposit cash in the amount of \$1957.15, and that SBA cannot produce a single witness or a single bank record to support their contentions at trial.

In the case *sub judice*, Pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 18-7-10:

2.

“When a judgment is rendered by a magistrate's court, by the governing body of a county or by any other inferior court or jurisdiction, save the probate court, the appeal shall be to the circuit court of the county wherein the judgment rendered and shall amount to a supersedeas.

By Order of the Court filed April 1, 2016, Case Number 2015-CP-35-00006, The case was continued beyond April 4, 2016 Term. The Order also states "The files regarding this case, 2015-CP-35-0006, and a prior case, 2014-CP-35-000034, Have been jumbled together. A Reconsideration motion was filed in 2014-CP-35-00034. After challenges were considered, A ruling was issued by Order filed March 30, 2016." The Order also states "The only pending case now is this 2015 appeal." (Case Number 2015-CP-35-00006) (R. 189). Therefore, the Magistrate Court lacked subject matter jurisdiction because the Motion to Reconsider and Appeal to the Circuit Court in this matter was still pending at the time of trial, which the Magistrate Court was made aware of by motion filed in the Magistrate Court filed by the Appellant.

3.

On December 18, 2014, appellant was under the influence of sedative prescription medication having only recently been informed of his son having been sexually assaulted. As such Appellant was unable to fully engage in the process of representation of his interests and the court erred in not granting Appellant's request for a continuance.

On December 15, 2014, the South Carolina Attorney General victim service coordinator Ms. Toni Lawrimore, informed Appellant that his son had been sexually abused by Shea Brandon Masterson. (R.257) Appellant immediately scheduled an appointment and was seen on December 16, 2014, by Court appointed psychologist Dr. Frey. Upon Dr. Frey's consultation with my family physician Appellant was immediately placed on prescription medication and instructed not to operate an automobile. (R. 256).

Appellant contacted attorney Edward McCallum whose office is located in Greenwood, South Carolina, for assistance with the hearing schedule December 18, 2014.

Attorney McCallum was unable to appear on Appellant's behalf but assisted with three motions on Appellant's behalf advising the Court of the crimes committed against Appellant's son and the mental and physical effects on the Appellant on December 17, 2014.

Under South Carolina law, motions for continuance are addressed to the sound discretion of the trial judge and his ruling will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion. *Newman v. Old West Inc.*, 286 S.C. 394, 334 S.E. (2d) 275, 276 (1985). "Whether a Judge does or does not abuse his discretion depends upon the facts before him at the time." *Purex Corp. v. Walker*, 278 S.C. 388, 390, 296 S.E. (2d) 868, 869 (1982). *Grant v. Grant* 288 S.C. 86 (1986). An abuse of discretion occurs when a court's decision is controlled by an error of law or is without evidentiary support. *Micronics, Inc. v. South Carolina Department of Revenue*, 345 S.C. 506, 510, (Ct. App. 2001) *citing* *Ledford v. Pennsylvania Life Ins. Co.*, 267 S.C. 671, 675, (1976).

ARGUMENT

The Appellant respectfully request the Court reverse and remand the denial of the eviction of the Respondent SBA, based on the testimony the Appellant's witness, Shelia Sonnenberg, the failure of the Respondent to produce any evidence to establish the deposit that led to the production of the cashier's check was indeed SBA funds.

The Appellant also respectfully request the Court reverse and remand the denial of the eviction of SBA, because the Magistrate Court lacked subject matter jurisdiction over this matter