THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM MCCORMICK COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Donald B. Hocker, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2017-000203

---

R. Jay Lagroon, ..... Appellant,

v.

SBA Communications Corp., ..... Respondent.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

---

Jeremy C. Hodges  
Graham R. Billings  
NELSON MULLINS RILEY & SCARBOROUGH LLP  
1320 Main Street / 17th Floor  
Columbia, South Carolina 29201  
803.799.2000

Attorneys for Respondent SBA Communications Corp.

RECEIVED

AUG 01 2017

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM MCCORMICK COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

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

### ARGUMENT

#### **I. The appeal must be dismissed because the Notice of Appeal to the Circuit Court was not timely filed or served.**

The Court must dismiss this appeal because Dr. Lagroon's appeal from the Magistrate Court to the Circuit Court was not timely filed and served. Section 18-7-20 of the South Carolina Code provides that an appeal from magistrate's court to the circuit court must be served with thirty days after written notice of judgment has been given to the appellant, "except when the judgment is announced at the trial in the presence of the appellant or his attorney then no written notice is necessary[.]" S.C. Code Ann. § 18-7-20. Rule 74 of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure provides that the notice of appeal shall be filed within the time provided by statute for service of the notice of appeal. Rule 74, SCRPC.

The Magistrate Court announced his decision at trial on December 18, 2014 in Dr. Lagroon's presence:

THE COURT: All right. Based on the evidence presented before me here in this case with regards to your application for an ejection on failure to pay rent, I am going to find that you have not met your burden. In fact, I am going to find otherwise, that proof has been shown that rent has been paid for each and every month, or at least for the month of March for which you have complained of. And I am going to deny the eviction, which leaves the only other matter to address here today is that of [SBA's counterclaim for] breach of contract.

(Tr. 98:6-15, R. 98; *see also* December 22, 2014 Order, R. 242 (stating that the decision was announced in the parties' presence).) Accordingly, Dr. Lagroon had thirty days from December 18, 2014 to file and serve his notice of appeal to the Circuit Court. Dr. Lagroon's Notice of Appeal

was filed on January 28, 2015, forty-one days after the decision was announced in his presence. (Circuit Court Notice of Appeal, R. 245.) As such, it was untimely.

Even calculating off the day that Dr. Lagroon allegedly received written notice of the Magistrate Court's order, Dr. Lagroon's appeal to the Circuit Court was still untimely. In his Notice of Appeal, Dr. Lagroon stated that he received the Magistrate Court's written order on December 28, 2014. (*Id.*) The Notice of Appeal was filed on January 28, 2015, thirty-one days later.<sup>4</sup> (*Id.*) Dr. Lagroon never served counsel for SBA with a copy of the Circuit Court Notice of Appeal (or any other filing). (*See Hodges Aff.*, R. 301.) Dr. Lagroon thus failed to comply with the plain language of Section 18-7-20, and his failure to serve the Notice of Appeal within thirty days renders the appeal untimely.

The failure to comply with the procedural requirements for an appeal divests the appellate court of appellate jurisdiction. *State v. Brown*, 358 S.C. 382, 387, 596 S.E.2d 39, 41 (2004). Because this Court lacks appellate jurisdiction, it cannot reach the merits of the appeal. The appeal must be dismissed.

**II. The Circuit Court's affirmance of the Magistrate Court's finding that SBA paid rent in March 2014 is supported by the evidence and was not affected by errors of law.**

**A. The record evidence supports the Magistrate Court's finding that SBA made the March 2014 rent payment.**

Dr. Lagroon's first issue on appeal regards the merits of his claim that SBA failed to pay rent in March 2014.<sup>5</sup> Because at least some evidence in the record supports the Circuit Court's

---

<sup>4</sup> The Circuit Court noted that thirty-one days had elapsed between Dr. Lagroon's alleged receipt of the Magistrate Court's written order and the day he filed the notice of appeal, yet the Circuit Court denied SBA's motion to dismiss the appeal. (*See August 18, 2016 Order p.3 n.3, R. 309.*)

<sup>5</sup> In his brief, Dr. Lagroon argues that SBA failed to pay rent in February 2014. (App. Br. p. 4.) At trial, Dr. Lagroon contended that SBA failed to pay rent in March 2014. Regardless, the First Citizens records show that SBA paid rent for February 2014 on January 30, 2014. (Def.'s Ex. 1, Tr. 135, R. 135.)

affirmance of the Magistrate Court's decision finding that SBA paid rent in March 2014, this Court must affirm.

SBA deposited rent payments into a First Citizens bank account<sup>6</sup> each month from November 2013 to February 2014. (*See* Def.'s Ex. 1, Tr. 128, 133, 135, R. 128, 133, 135.) The First Citizens account was closed in February 2014, and a credit in the amount of SBA's rent payment was posted to the account on February 26, 2014, after the account was closed. (*See* Def.'s Ex. 2, Tr. 140-48, R. 140-48.) On February 28, First Citizens issued a cashier's check in the amount of SBA's rent payment to Kelli Barnett, and that the check was negotiated and debited from the First Citizens account. (*Id.*) SBA's internal records show that rent was paid to Dr. Lagroon from April 2013 to May 2014. (*See* Def.'s Ex. 5, Tr. 185-86, R. 185-86.) Each rent payment shown on First Citizens' account records is in the same amount as the corresponding rent payment on SBA's internal records. Additionally, each rent payment shown on First Citizens' account records was posted to the First Citizens account one day after the rent payment was made, according to SBA's internal records. The same is true for the disputed March 2014 rent payment.

The Magistrate Court carefully reviewed and compared the internal SBA records and the records from the First Citizens account. The Magistrate Court also heard the testimony of Dr. Lagroon and his witness, observed their demeanors, and judged the credibility of their testimony and that of the exhibits offered by Dr. Lagroon. The Magistrate Court was in the best position to weigh all of the evidence, and after allowing both parties a full opportunity to present that evidence and arguments in support thereof, the Magistrate Court found in favor of SBA. The Circuit Court

---

<sup>6</sup> Kelli Barnett is the named accountholder on the First Citizens account. Dr. Lagroon has never contended that the Barnett account was not the correct account for SBA's rent payments or that SBA failed to pay rent in any month prior to March 2014.

reviewed this same evidence and affirmed the Magistrate Court's decision. The evidence in the record supports these decisions.

In his brief, Dr. Lagroon identifies a number of purported factual inconsistencies in the Record, such as whether SBA paid too much rent in January 2014. (*See* Appellant's Br. pp. 4-7.) These factual inconsistencies are not relevant to this Court's determination. This Court must only determine whether there is "any evidence, however slight, tending to prove" the Magistrate Court's factual findings. *S.C. Law Enf't Div. v. 1-Speedmaster S/N 00218*, 397 S.C. 94, 96, 723 S.E.2d 809, 810 (Ct. App. 2011) (citation omitted). There is ample evidence in the record that SBA paid rent in March 2014. Accordingly, this Court must affirm the Circuit Court's affirmance of the Magistrate Court's finding in favor of SBA.

**B. There are no errors of law in the record.**

Dr. Lagroon's fourth issue on appeal is that the Magistrate Court erred by failing to include his exhibits in the Record. (Appellant's Br. pp. 9-10.) This is the only error of law that Dr. Lagroon identifies in connection with this appeal. Neither the Magistrate Court nor the Circuit Court committed any error in connection with the inclusion or exclusion of Dr. Lagroon's trial exhibits.

Under South Carolina law, when a magistrate's judgment is appealed, the magistrate court makes a return of the testimony, proceedings, and judgment and files it in the circuit court. S.C. Code Ann. § 18-7-60. There is no requirement that the magistrate court record or transcribe the testimony or provide the exhibits to the circuit court. Accordingly, the Magistrate Court did not err by filing the Return without including Dr. Lagroon's trial exhibits.

Regardless, all of Dr. Lagroon's trial exhibits were included in the Circuit Court's record on appeal because Dr. Lagroon attached all of them to his Notice of Appeal. (Circuit Court Notice of Appeal, R. 245.) Accordingly, the Circuit Court's order affirming the Magistrate Court's

decision could not be affected by the failure to include the exhibits in the Magistrate Court's Return.

**III. The Motion to Reconsider in the Cease and Desist Action did not deprive the Magistrate Court of subject matter jurisdiction.**

Dr. Lagroon's second issue on appeal is that his motion to the Circuit Court for reconsideration of its October 27, 2014 Order in the Cease and Desist Action, which was still pending as of December 18, 2014, deprived the Magistrate Court of subject matter jurisdiction in this Rent Action. (Appellant's Br. pp. 7-8.) Dr. Lagroon contends that the trial in the Rent Action on December 18, 2014 was thus conducted without subject matter jurisdiction. This contention is without legal support.

The Magistrate Court had subject matter jurisdiction over the Rent Action because it was an action on a contract for the recovery of less than \$7,500 and was between a landlord and tenant. S.C. Code Ann. § 22-3-10(1) & (10). The pending motion to reconsider in the Cease and Desist Action had no effect on the Rent Action and did nothing to divest the Magistrate Court of subject matter jurisdiction. Although the same parties were involved in the Rent Action and the Cease and Desist Action, they involved different issues (whether SBA paid the March 2014 rent in the Rent Action, and the validity of a Cease and Desist Order in the Cease and Desist action). There is no basis in law for depriving one court of subject matter jurisdiction or requiring the continuance of a trial because of a pending motion to reconsider involving the same parties in a different action involving different issues and claims. The Magistrate Court had subject matter jurisdiction over the Rent Action.

**IV. The Circuit Court correctly found that the Magistrate Court did not abuse his discretion in denying Dr. Lagroon's motion for continuance.**

Dr. Lagroon's third issue on appeal is that the Magistrate Court abused his discretion in denying his motion for continuance, which he made the afternoon prior to trial on the grounds of his emotional distress. (Appellant's Br. pp. 8-9.) The Magistrate Court did not abuse its discretion in denying the motion for continuance.

"The grant or denial of a continuance lies with the sound discretion of the trial court and such ruling will not be reversed absent a clear showing of abuse of discretion." *M & M Grp., Inc. v. Holmes*, 379 S.C. 468, 474-75, 666 S.E.2d 262, 265 (Ct. App. 2008). "A tribunal necessarily exercises wide discretion in managing a case, and decisions denying a request for a continuance are 'rarely' overturned." *Trotter v. Trane Coil Facility*, 393 S.C. 637, 650, 714 S.E.2d 289, 295 (2011) (citations omitted). "Every reasonable presumption in favor of a proper exercise of the trial court's discretion will be made." *Id.* (citation omitted).

Although the circumstances identified in Dr. Lagroon's motion are serious, the Magistrate Court was in the best position to weigh the ability of the parties to proceed to trial on the morning of December 18, 2014. The Magistrate Court observed Dr. Lagroon's demeanor in the pre-trial hearing and allowed Dr. Lagroon to explain the basis for the requested continuance. After hearing the explanation, the Magistrate Court concluded that the motion for a continuance was a delay tactic. (Tr. 9:12-17:16, R. 9-17.) Dr. Lagroon's motion for a continuance was made at the last hour on the day prior to trial even though the issues leading to his request were present weeks or months prior to the trial date.<sup>7</sup> No prejudice appears from the record; Dr. Lagroon was able to prepare

---

<sup>7</sup> Dr. Lagroon prepared and filed three written motions with numerous attachments on the eve of trial, which is inconsistent with his claim that he was unable to adequately prepare for trial. Dr. Lagroon claims that an attorney, Edward McCallum, "assisted" him with the motions but was "unable to appear" at trial. (Appellant's Br. p. 9.)


multiple motions, testify, and present additional evidence and witnesses at trial. The record reveals that, after the motion for continuance was denied, Dr. Lagroon's responsiveness and ability to fashion arguments improved. (*See id.* at 44:2-9, R. 44.) The Magistrate Court is vested with wide discretion in ruling on motions for a continuance and there is no indication this discretion was abused or should be overturned here. There is no basis in the record for the Court to overturn this discretionary decision and remand this three year old rent dispute for further proceedings.

**CONCLUSION**

For the foregoing reasons, the Court should affirm the decision of the Circuit Court affirming the Magistrate Court's finding that SBA paid rent in March 2014 or dismiss Dr. Lagroon's appeal for lack of appellate jurisdiction.